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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA
AIKEN DIVISION

Jeffrey Allen Hesik, ) CivAction No.: 1:12-cv-00014-JMC
)
Plaintiff, )
)
V. ) ORDER AND OPINION
)
Boston Scientific Corporation, )
)
Defendant. )

)

In this products liability aabn, Plaintiff Jeffrey Allen Hesi (“Plaintiff”) alleges that
Defendant Boston Scientific Corporation (“Defant”) manufactured and sold a defective
defibrillator that proximately caused him to suféevere and permanent injuries. (See ECF No.
11.) Plaintiff asserts causes of action against Defendantegligence, breach of express
warranty, breach of implied warranties, and stradiility. (Id. at 4-6.)

This matter is now before the court on éljnotion by Plaintiff for summary judgment
pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56 (the “Rule 56 motion”) on his causes of action for breach of
express warranty, breach of ilgal warranties, and strict lialtii; and (2) a Rule 56 motion by
Defendant as to all of Plaintiffslaims. (ECF Nos. 69, 70.) Ftre reasons set forth below, the
courtGRANTSIN PART AND DENIESIN PART Defendant’s Rule 56 motion amENIES
Plaintiff’'s Rule 56 motion.

I. RELEVANT FACTUAL BACKGROUND TO THE PENDING MOTIONS

On January 6, 2009, Plaintiff was admittedthe Aiken RegionaMedical Center in

Aiken, South Carolina to receivenaw cardiac defibrillator. (ECRo. 11 at 1 § 6.) Plaintiff's

existing defibrillator was replaced with faadant's COGNIS Cardiac Resynchronization
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Therapy Defibrillator, Model N118, Serial No. 559315 (the “Defibrillator”). (Id. at § 7.) The
Defibrillator was manufactured on May 27, 20@8d it had been approved as a Class Il
medical device by the United States Foowl @&rug Administration (“FDA”) through the
supplemental Pre-Market ApprdvéPMA”) process. (ECF M. 70-2 at 3 § 6—4 1 11.) The
Defibrillator also was packaged and labeledompliance with all FDAapproved specifications
and processes. (ECF No. 70-3 at 4 1 9.) thtiah, the Defibrilator came with a warranty (the
“Warranty”) that covered a period of five (years after the date of implantation and was
available “only if the pulse generator fails to function within normal tolerances due to defects in
materials, workmanship, or design during the warrantypge . . .” (ECF No. 69-4.)

On October 30, 2009, the Defibrillator failed. QE No. 11 at 2 § 8.)As a result of the
Defibrillator’s failure, Plaintiff suffered a compke heart block and atridibrillation and had to
be transported to Provena St. Juséledical Center in Joliet, Iiibis. (Id. at 9.) On October
31, 2009, the Defibrillator was surgically explanted due to a “Product Performance kssde”
replaced. (Id. at § 10; ECF No. 69-1 at 4 (refeireg ECF No. 69-5).) Defendant’s Post Market
Quality Assurance Laboratory examined the Defibrillator and issued a CRM Complaint
Summary Report (the “CRM Rert”) explaining the reason for its failure as follows:

Upon receipt at our Post Market Quali#yssurance laboratory, external visual

inspection noted that the device case aasllen. There was blood in the atrial

seal plug cavity and lead barrel. Téed of the antennaohsing was deformed

and bubbled. All seal plugs are intaotlaall set screws operated normally. This

is a version 1 header. An x-ray wpserformed and found damage at the cell

terminal connection area. The pulseng®tor case was removed and internal

visual inspection noted heat damaigethe cell, hybrid and framework. Any
evidence of the cause of this damage was destroyed.

(ECF No. 69-6.) Thereafter, on December2009, Defendant issued a Physician Device

Advisory Notice (the “PDA Notice”), which noticedvised medical personnel that listed models

' This description was set forth in a fortitted CRT-D WarrantyValidation and Lead
Registration (the “CRT-D Form”).
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including the Defibrillator mayexperience performance failure and that the root cause is a
“[w]eakened bond between the header and tag&CF No. 69-7.) After conducting the
examination of the Defibrillator, Defendagave a credit of $25,056.00 to Provena St. Joseph
Medical Center pursuartb the Warranty on the Defibrillatcand sent Plaintiff a check for
$2,500.00 to help offset unreimbursed medicapemses remaining from his defibrillator
replacement surgery in accordance with itsdimbursed Medical Expense Program. (See ECF
Nos. 69-3, -9, -10.)

On November 21, 2011, Plaintiff filed suit agsi Defendant in the Aiken County (South
Carolina) Court of Common Pleas alleging claifos negligence (Count), strict liability
pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-73-10 (197&ui@ 2), and breach of express and implied
warranties (Count 3)._(See ECF No. 1-1.) January 3, 2012, Defendant removed the matter to
this court on the basis of diversity junistion pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1332, 1441 and 1446.
(ECF No. 1.) In response the allegations in the complaint, Defendants filed a motion on
January 10, 2012, seeking dismissal of the dampunder Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) due to
Plaintiff's failure to state a claim. (ECF No. 8Plaintiff then amended his complaint on January
31, 2012, to allege claims for negligence (Counbigach of express warranty (Count 2), breach
of implied warranties (Count 3pnd strict liability pursuanto S.C. Code Ann. § 15-73-10
(1976) (Count 4). (ECF No. 11.) Defendant filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint
for failure to state a claim on March 1, 202&hich motion was denied by the court on
November 16, 2012. (ECF Nos. 13, 25.)

On October 3, 2013, the court entered anratad conference and scheduling order that
bifurcated discovery in this cas#o two (2) phases(ECF No. 50.) The first phase of discovery
closed on April 25, 2014, and was limited ttee issue of whether Plaintiff's claims are

preempted by federal law._(ld. at 1-3.) Therefore, in accordance with the court's amended
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scheduling order, Plaintiff and Defendantdileross motions for summary judgment on May 22,
2014 and May 23, 2014, respectively. (ECF Nos.769, Moreover, each party filed a response
in opposition to the other’'s Rule 56 tram on June 23, 2014. (ECF Nos. 74, 75.)
On September 29, 2014, the court held aihgaon the pending Rule 56 motions. (ECF
No. 81.)
II.  LEGAL STANDARD AND ANALYSIS

A. Summary Judgnrg Generally

Summary judgment should be granted “ietmovant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material famtd the movant is entitled to jutignt as a matter of law.” Fed.
R. Civ. P. 56(a). A fact is “material” if proaff its existence or non-existence would affect the

disposition of the case under the applicable I@&wmderson v. Liberty Lobby Inc., 477 U.S. 242,

248-49 (1986). A genuine question of material facttexvhere, after reviewing the record as a
whole, the court finds that a reasonable joopld return a verdict for the non-moving party.

Newport News Holdings Corp. v. Virtuélity Vision, 650 F.3d 423, 434 (4th Cir. 2011).

In ruling on a motion for summgajudgment, a court must view the evidence in the light

most favorable to the non-moving party. Re@orp. v. Perini Constr., Inc., 915 F.2d 121, 123-

24 (4th Cir. 1990). The non-moving party magt oppose a motion for sunary judgment with
mere allegations or denials of the movant’s gieg, but instead must “sébrth specific facts”

demonstrating a genuine issue faaltr Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(ekee_Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477

U.S. 317, 324 (1986); Anderson v. Liberty Loblyc., 477 U.S. 242, 252 (1986); Shealy v.

Winston, 929 F.2d 1009, 1012 (4th Cir. 1991). All tlsatequired is that “sufficient evidence
supporting the claimed factual dispute be showndaire a jury or judge toesolve the parties’
differing versions of the truth at trial.” Anderson, 477 U.S. at 249. “Mere unsupported

speculation . . . is not enough to defeat a samgqudgment motion.”_Ennis v. Nat’'| Ass’n of
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Bus. & Educ. Radio, Inc., 53 F.3d 55, 62 (4th Cir. 1995).

B. Products Liability Generally
Under South Carolina law, a plaintiff mayifg a products liability claim under several
theories, including negligence, strict liability,dabreach of warranties, &aintiff has done in

this case._Talkington v. Atria Reclamelw# Fabrieken BV (Cricket BV), 152 F.3d 254, 261

(4th Cir. 1998) (stating thatadth Carolina appellate courts hawensistently recognized this
general proposition) (citations omitted). Regardless of the theory upon which the plaintiff
chooses to base his cause of@acthe must always establish flodowing elements: “(1) that he

was injured by the product; (2) thiie product, at the time of tlaecident, was iessentially the

same condition as when it left the hands of the defendant; and (3) that the injury occurred
because the product was in a defective ttawmd unreasonably dangerous to the user.”

Talkington, 152 F.3d at 262 (quoting BraggHi—Ranger, Inc., 462 S.E.2d 321, 326 (S.C.

1995)).

C. The Parties Arguments in Suppof Their Rule 56 Motions

1. Plaintiff

Plaintiff argues that he is entitled to summparggment as to his second and third causes
of action for breach of express warranty andalbh of implied warranties because Defendant
provided Provena St. Joseph Medical Centéth a credit of$25,056.00 pursuant to the
Defibrillator's Warranty and gave Plainti#2,500.00 for unreimbursed medical expenses, which
actions support a finding as a matter of law that the Defibrillator failed due to a defect that was
covered under the Warranty. (ECF No. 69-1 &-3,.) In support of this argument, Plaintiff
asserts that these payments were made omdy Bfefendant's quality assurance technicians
thoroughly examined the Defibrillator therelpyecluding Defendant from arguing that the

Defibrillator did not possess a “defect[]in ma#dsi workmanship, or design.” _ (Id. at 7.)

5



Plaintiff further asserts thdiecause Defendant provided axpeess warranty, South Carolina
law presumes that he as a recipient of the Wbditor is a third past beneficiary of the
Warranty and any attempt by Defendant to disetldiability for consequential damages is
ineffective. (Id. at 8-9 (citing S.C. CodenA 8§ 36-2-318 (2003) (“A sells warranty whether
express or implied extends to any natural pessba may be expected wse, consume or be
affected by the goods and whoseso® or property is damagéy breach of the warranty. A
seller may not exclude or limit the operationtiof section.”)).) Addionally, Plaintiff argues
that he is entitled to summary judgment on s$tisct liability claim because the examination
results of the Defibrillator by Defendant’s qualdagsurance technicians dean inference that
the Defibrillator was defective and unreasonabigngerous “due to defects in materials,
workmanship, or design.”_(Id. at 10t{og S.C. Code Ann. 8 15-73-10 (1976)).)

2. Defendant

Defendant argues that it is entitled tarsnary judgment on all of Plaintiff's claims
because they are preempted by federal lavCF(Bo. 70-1 at 2.) Spdually, Defendant argues
that Plaintiff's claims for injuries resulting from the Defibrillatoregoreempted by the Food,
Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”"), 21 U.S.@8 301-399f, as explained by the United States

Supreme Court in_Riegel v. Medhic, Inc., 552 U.S. 312 (2008)(ld.) In support of this

argument, Defendant asserts that the FDA dladsthe Defibrillator as a Class Il medical
device and Plaintiff's claims directly attack the Ddifiillator's desgn, construction,
manufacturing methods, testingnd labeling of the device assue, all of which were
specifically approved by the FDA muant to an equivalent ofahagency’s most rigorous PMA
process. (Id. (referencing EQNo. 70-2 at 7-13).)

Defendant further argues that Plaintiff is bleato establish a “parallel claim” exception

that would allow his claims to avoid preemptiofid.) Referencing Platiif's responses to its
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discovery requests, Defendantseds that “the documents amhich Plaintiff relies do not
support a parallel claim because they (1) applynrelated devices, (2) include information on
the issue that Plaintiffs Model N118 device haithaut any mention of a violation of a federal
requirement, or (3) actually demonstrate thatrehis no federal violation associated with
Plaintiff's device at issue.” _@l) Defendant further assertsathPlaintiff's sole basis for a
parallel claim relates to two terreported manufacturing chanfjesvhich are unrelated to
Plaintiff's alleged injuries because both nbas were made after Plaintiff's device was
manufactured and neither change bears any relationship to Plaintiff's vague allegations of battery
or “processor” failures, or the safety of the @evin general. _(Id. at 19.) Finally, Defendant
contends that because Plaintiff has not preseartgavidence of a feddnaolation connected to
the Defibrillator, his parallel claim theory is thwout merit. (Id. at 21.) Therefore, Defendant
requests that the court enters summary judgmeits ifavor and dismiss Plaintiff's entire case
with prejudice. (Id.)

D. The Court’'s Review

1. Statutory and Regulatory Background

Plaintiff agrees that the Déifilllator was a Class Ill medal device under the Medical
Device Amendments of 1976 (“MDA”), 21 UG. 88 360c—360k. (See, e.g., ECF No. 11 at 2
14 (“The COGNIS N118 CRT-D defibrillator is@lass Il medical devicas designated by the
FDA.”).) Congress enacted the MDA to the FD@Aredefine the term “medical device” and
create a system for classification and prewmarclearance of medical devices. The MDA
grouped all medical devices into one (1) ofethr(3) regulatory classes based on the controls

necessary to provide reasonable emste of each device’s safetpd effectiveness. 21 U.S.C. §

> Defendant submitted two (2) manufacturing rdpes to its COGNIS linef products to the
FDA in February and April 2009. (ECF No. 784 11 11, 12.) Both manufacturing changes
were approved by the FDA on April 15, 2010. (Id. at § 13.)
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360c(a)(1)(A)—(C). Class I devices, which cairg least risk, are governed solely by the general
misbranding and adulteration controls of the FD&@#d its implementing regulations. Id. at 8
360c(a)(1)(A). Class Il devicgsresent a greater rigkan Class | devicesand thus Class Il
devices must comply with both the generahtrols governing Clas$ devices and special
controls designed to assure $gfand effectiveness. Id. at § 360c(a)(1)(B). Class Ill devices
present a greater risk than Class | and CladggVvices, and therefore require PMA, a scientific
review conducted by the FDA to ensure the de's safety and effectiveness. Id. at §
360c(a)(1)(C). “In general, a dewi is assigned to Class Il ifagannot be established that a less
stringent classification @uld provide reasonable assurancesafiety and effectiveness, and the
device is ‘purported or represented to be fasa in supporting or sustaining human life or for a
use which is of substantial importance in preventmpairment of human health,” or ‘presents a

potential unreasonable risk of illness or injury.” Riegel, 552 U.S. at 317 (citing 21 U.S.C. §

360c(a)(1)(C)(ii)).

PMA is based on a determination by the A-Ehat the PMA application contains
sufficient valid scientific evidence to assure that the device is safe and effective for its intended
use. 21 C.F.R. 8§ 814.2(a)PMA *“is a rigorous process,Wwhich involves an extensive
application, disclosure of all investigations related to the device's safety and effectiveness,
disclosure of all ingredientsr device components, revieaf manufacturing processes and
facilities, submission of device samples, asabmission of device leeling. Walker v.

Medtronic, Inc., 670 F.3d 569, 572—73 (4th Cir. 2012)n@ Riegel, 552 U.S. at 317; 21 U.S.C.

§ 360e(c)(1)). “Once a [Clasd]ldevice has received prematlapproval, the MDA forbids the
manufacturer to make, withoBDA permission, changes in desigpecifications, manufacturing
processes, labeling, or any other attribute that would affect safeffectiveness.”_Riegel, 552

U.S. at 319.



“The FDA continues to oversee Class Il dms [even] after thgrant of premarket
approval.” ‘Walker, 670 F.3d at 574. Device matdrers are subject twntinued reporting
requirements, “including the obligation to inform the FDA of new clinical investigations or
scientific studies concerning the device ofiebhthe manufacturer knows or reasonably should
know of,” and the obligation & report incidents in which ¢hdevice may have caused or
contributed to death or seriougury, or malfunctioned in a nmamer that would likely cause or
contribute to death or seus injury if it reoccured.” Riegel, 552 U.Sat 317 (citing 21 U.S.C. 8
360i(a)(1)). Moreover, “[tlheFDA has the power to withdraw premarket approval based on
newly reported data or existingfammation and must withdraw appral if it determines that a
device is unsafe or @ifective under the conditions its labeling.” _Riegel, 552 U.S. at 319-20
(citing 21 U.S.C. 8§ 360e(e)(1)).

2. Preemption

As a means of creating uniform federagulations, the MDA included an express
preemption provision, which provides in relevant part:

[N]o State or political subgision of a State may establish or continue in effect

with respect to a device intended for human use any requirement—(1) which is

different from, or in addition to, any regament applicable under this chapter to

the device, and (2) which relates to the safety or effectiveness of the device or to

any other matter included in a requiremepplicable to the device under this
chapter.

21 U.S.C. § 360k(a). This clause generally loaramon law tort claims against Class Il device
manufacturers, because thosaimls seek to impose different additional requirements for

purposes of 8§ 360k(a). See Riegel, 552 U.R28t-25; see also Walker, 670 F.3d at 577. In

Riegel, the Supreme Court announced a two-prong test to determine whether a state law claim is
expressly preempted under 8 360k: (1) whethee federal government has established
requirements applicable to the dieal device, and (2) if so, wlher the state law claim would

impose requirements that are “different from oaddition to” the federal requirements. Riegel,
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552 U.S. at 321-22. Medical devictmt have received PMA aumatically satisfy the first
prong. See id. at 328. As to the second prrggSupreme Court held the following:
State requirements are pre-empted undeMbD@ only to the extent that they are
“different from, or in addition to” theéequirements imposed by federal law. §
360k(a)(1). Thus, 8 360k does not prdvanState from providing a damages

remedy for claims premised on a violatiohFDA regulations; the state duties in
such a case “parallel,” rather thadd to, federal requirements.”

Id. at 330°

This provision regarding pdfal duties provides # one narrow exception to the rule of
preemption. A plaintiff may bringlaims directly against a dexd manufacturer if the state law
claims parallel federal law, i.e., do not imposguieements that are different from, or in addition
to, those already imposed on the manufacturers dgrée law. A well-pleaded parallel claim
must at least (1) identify the federal requirenegoplicable to the device with which it allegedly
failed to comply and (2) explain how that violation of a federal requirement caused the plaintiff's

injury. See, e.g., Smith v. St. Jude Med. GardRhythm Mgmt. Div.Civil Case No. CCB-12-

1746, 2013 WL 1104427, at *4 (D. Md. Mar. 13, 2p13li v. Allergan USA, Inc., No.

1:12CV115, 2012 WL 3692396, at *8 (E.D. Va. A@B, 2012);_Viserta v. St. Jude Med., Inc.,

C.A. No. 8:11CV505, 2012 WL 667814, at *4 (D.SK&b. 29, 2012); Bishoff v. Medtronic Inc.,

Civil Action No. 1:09CVv171, 2010 WL 4852650, at {R.D. W. Va. Nov. 222010); Covert v.
Stryker Corp., No. 1:08CVv447, 2009 WL 24545 at *14-15 (M.D.N.C. Aug. 5, 2009).

In addition to Plaintiff's express agreemerattkhe Defibrillator was a Class 11l medical
device, there also does not appear to be a dispute about whether the FDA approved the design,
manufacturing process, and ldbg of the Defibrillator as gmopriate and reasonably safe

pursuant to a PMA process under the MDA. (%eg.,, ECF No. 11 at 2 § 13 (“After the model

*However, the Supreme Court stopped short of §prgiwhat a plaintiff must show to properly
plead a “parallel” claim because the plaintiffs_in Riegel did not assert that their claims were
parallel. See Riegel, 552 U.S. at 330.
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N118 CRT-D defibrillator received premarkgiproval as required by 21 U.S.C. § 360(e), . . .
.").) Therefore, because the Defibrillator i®atly subject to federal requirements, Plaintiff's
claims for negligence, breach of express wayabteach of implied warranties, and strict
liability are preempted, unless they are patallaims to the federal requirements.

3. Preemption in the Context ofdmhtiff's Particular Claims

In opposing preemption of his causes of action, Plaintiff argueshtagiarallel claims
exception applies to his claims based on De&mt's admission that the Defibrillator was
defective “in materials, workmanship, or dgsi and such admission establishes that the
Defibrillator was not manufactured as represdnto and approved bydhFDA in the PMA.

(ECF No. 74 at 7-8; see also ECF No. 11 §f36-19.) In support of this argument, Plaintiff

asserts that the Defibrillator was different froine medical device that received PMA approval
because the Defibrillator was not hermetically sdals was represented to the FDA in the PMA.
(ECF No. 74 at 2.) As evidence of this defecthia Defibrillator, Plainff points to findings in a
Hazard Analysis Repditthe CRT-D Form, the CRM Report, the PDA Notice, and the memo
providing the credit to Provena St. Joseph MadCenter. (ECF No 69-3, 69-5, 69-6, 69-7,
69-9.)

Plaintiff further argues that the parallel claims exception is applicable because
Defendants violated federal regulations bynofacturing a medicablevice that failed to
stimulate his heart and by prowigi a warranty that was untruthfidaccurate, and misleading in
violation of the uniform commercial coddECF No. 74 at 8-9 (citing 21 C.F.R. 88 870.3610,

808.1(d)(1)).) In support of his arguments, Rtiffi cites to_Easterling v. Cardiac Pacemakers,

* The Hazard Analysis Report contains statements that battery swelling is a hazard that is
mitigated by “[c]ell performance proven to meet requirements” and “non-hermetic battery and
ineffective laser weld of cases or feedthru addg” is a hazard mitigate by “cells [that] are

100% inspected for hermeticity after case wagdior “cells [that] are 100% inspected for
electrolyte leakage aftéaser sphere weld.{ECF No. 69-3.)
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Inc., 986 F. Supp. 366 (E.D. La. 1997), in whicle ttourt stated that claims could survive
preemption where they are based on the manua&uifailure to adhere to the standards set
forth by the FDA in the PMA.”_Id. at 375.

Defendant maintains that all of Plaintiff's claims are expressly preempted under Riegel.
(ECF No. 75 at 9.) Because the Defibrillateas a Class Il medical device that had passed
through the PMA process, the issue of preemption turns on the second step_of the Riegel
analysis. In this regard, the court consideetow whether each of Plaintiff's claims imposes
requirements that are “different frowr, in addition to” the requements imposed by federal law.

a. Negligence

In South Carolina, a manufacturer has thay to use reasonlbcare throughout the

manufacturing process, includj making sure the product is freeany potentially dangerous

defect in manufacturing or design. Jsok v. Bermuda Sands, Inc., 677 S.E.2d 612, 614-15

(S.C. Ct. App. 2009) (citing Rife v. Hitacklonstr. Mach. Co., Ltd., 609 S.E.2d 565, 569 (S.C.

Ct. App. 2005)). Plaintiff allegethat the Defibrilleor was negligently manufactured because
the actual manufacture of the device deviatethfthe specifications required by the PMA.

Upon review, the court agrees with Plaintifathf the Defibrillato did not conform to
the PMA’s specifications, then heould have a parallel claim tavoid preemption._See, e.g.,

Bass v. Stryker Corp., 669 F.3d 501, 515 (5th 2d2) (finding that plaitiff's manufacturing

defect claims could proceed because they wezenised on violations of FDA regulations and

therefore parallel claims thatere not preempted); RiegelMedtronic, Inc., 451 F.3d 104, 123—-

24 (2d Cir. 2006) (“By the same token, we agwath the district coufs conclusion that the
Riegels’ negligent manufacturing claim was not preempted, to the extent that it rested on the
allegation that the particular Exgreen Balloon Cathetéinat was deployeduring Mr. Riegel's

angioplasty had not been maactured in accordance with the PMA-approved standards. A jury

12



verdict in the Riegels’ favor on this claimowld not have imposed state requirements that
differed from, or added to, tHeMA-approved standards for thdgvice, but would instead have
simply sought recovery for Medtronic’s allegddviation from those stalards.”);_ Williams v.

Cyberonics, Inc., 654 F. Supp. 2d 301, 306 (E?B. 2009) (“To avoid federal preemption, a

plaintiff must make some showing that the ncatidevice was not maradtured in accordance
with FDA standards.”). Howevethe court finds that a parallelaim of negligence does not
exist in this case because Plaintiff has failedfterany evidence that creates a genuine issue of
material fact as to how the Defibrillator dew@dtfrom the PMA’s specifications. Plaintiff failed
to submit any evidence to substantiate his claim that the Defibrillator had lost its hermetic seal,
and is further unable to contratliDefendant’s affidavit fronits Site Compliance Advisor who
declared that the explanted Defibrillator “showmal evidence that the device lost its hermetic
seal.” (ECF No. 75-1 at 5 § 14.) Moreoveke ttocuments cited by Plaintiff do not demonstrate
the existence of a deviation from the PMA’segiications. As plaintf has not offered any
actual proof of a specific manufacing deviation from the Defildlator’'s specifications required
by the PMA, Plaintiff is unable to establish Ipigrallel claim for negligence. Accordingly, the
court must conclude that Plaintiff's ahaifor negligence is preempted.
b. Strict Liability

The theory of strict liabilityis premised on the concept thhé cost of injuries resulting
from defective products should be borne by the rfaturer or seller who puts such products on
the market rather than by the ultimate sseho are injured by the product and powerless to

protect themselves. Fleming v. Borden, 14&0 S.E.2d 589, 592 (S.C. 1994). The court finds

that for the same reasons that Plaintiff’'s neglice claim is preempted shstrict liability claim
premised on the Defibrillator's alleged dewiati from the requirements of the PMA is also

preempted. That is, Plaintiff has not puttfioany evidence to ed&tish how Defendant’s
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manufacture of the Defibrillator deveat from the requirements of its PMA.
c. Breach of ExpressWarranty and Implied Warranties
Generally, the failure of a product to work as expected or repredsrdefiicient to give

rise to an inference of breach of warrantge. PVC Pipe Mfq. v. Rothrock Constr. Co., 313

S.E.2d 50, 52 (S.C. 1984); Simmons v. CIBAIGY Corp., 302 S.E.2d 17, 18 (S.C. 1983).

The South Carolina Commercial Code establishes three types of warranty: (1) implied warranty
of merchantability; (2) implied warranty of fitass for a particular purpdsend (3) an express
warranty’ In an action based on wantg, plaintiff's case is complete when he has proved the
product, as designed, was irdafective condition unreasonablyndgerous to the user when it

left the control of the defendant, and the deteised his injuries. Madden, 328 S.E.2d at 112

(citing S.C. Code Ann. § 15-73-10).

® “Unless excluded or modified . . . , a warranty that the goods shall be merchantable is implied
in a contract for their sale if the seller is a nhartt with respect to goods that kind.” S.C.
Code Ann. § 36-2-314(1) (2003).0&h Carolina law sets forth several requirements that must
be met for goods to be merchantable. Id. 368-314(2). Goods are mehantable when they
“are fit for the ordinary purposesrfarhich such goods are used.” Id.

°In South Carolina, an implied warranty of fitndes a particular purpose arises if “the seller at
the time of contracting has reason to knamy particular purpose for which the goods are
required and that the buyer is relying on the selk&il or judgment to select or furnish suitable
goods . ...” S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-315 (2001B)'the particular purpose for which a product

is purchased is also the amdry or intended purpose of ethproduct, the warranties of
merchantability and of fithess for a particufaurpose merge and are cumulative, such that a
plaintiff may proceed upon either theorySoaper v. Hope Indus., 424 S.E.2d 493, 495 (S.C.
1992) (holding that plaintiff, who purchased fiprocessing machine, “impliedly made known to
[defendant] that his particular purpose foe timachine was fast film processing” and that
“[wlhen the machine failed in that purpose,wls both unmerchantable and unfit for its
particular purpose”).

7 In South Carolina, a seller may create apress warranty in a number of ways, including
“[a]ny affirmation of fact or promise, . . . mady the seller to the bey, whether directly or
indirectly, which relates to the gde and becomes part of the Isasf the bargain.” S.C. Code
Ann. 8§ 36-2-313(1) (1976). In addition, “[a]ny description of the goods which is made part of
the basis of the bargain creatan express warranty thtite goods shall conform to the
description.” _Id. In order to establish a sawf action for breach of an express warranty, a
plaintiff must show “the existence of the manty, its breach by the failure of the goods to
conform to the warranted description, and dammgg®ximately caused by the breach.” First
State Sav. & Loan v. Phelps, 385 S.E.2d 821, 825 (S.C. 1989).
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Plaintiff alleges that Defendant breached the implied warranties of merchantability and
fitness for a particular purpose by manufacturing the Defibrillator, which failed after less than
one (1) year, and that this breach causednpisies. (ECF No. 11 at 5 {{ 36, 37.) Implied
warranties are “centered around the accepted ssdd design and manufacture of products”

in the state in which the wantes originate. _&e, e.g., Davenport v. Medhic, Inc., 302 F.

Supp. 2d 419, 434 (E.D. Pa. 2004). However, the FDA has already provided federal
requirements relating to the design and maciuire of the Defibriitor through the PMA
process. “As an implied warranty is a reguient upon a product thatisses exclusively from

the operation of state contrdatv, [such claims] . . . impos& requirement additional to those

imposed under the MDA.” _King v. CollageCorp., 983 F.2d 1130, 1137 (1st Cir. 1993).

Therefore, the court concludes that Plairgifimplied warranties claim is expressly preempted
by the MDA, and summary judgmeas to the implied warranties claim is appropriate. Riegel,
552 U.S. at 330 (holding that pted-warranty claim preempted).

Plaintiff asserts in his breach of express warranty claim that Defendant expressly
warranted that the Defibrillator's pulse genera‘would function without failure because of
defects for a period of five (5)ewrs.” (ECF No. 11 at 5 § 31Defendant argues that this claim
is preempted, that the warranty was not the basis of the bargain, and that it has already fulfilled
its warranty obligations. After reviewing the cents of the Warranty arttie authority cited by
both parties, the court concluglthat Plaintiff's egress warranty claim is not preempted.

If Plaintiff's breach of express warranty atawere premised on any statements made in
a FDA-mandated document, the claim would beepipted. Here, however, Plaintiff's breach of
express warranty claim is premised solely orfebdant’s alleged voluntary statements in the
Warranty, which statements have not beenbéisteed as subject to the PMA process or

otherwise approved or mandated by the FDAn this regard, the court's recognition of
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Plaintiff's breach of express warranty claim @ets no risk of interference with the federal
medical device regulatory scheme, and thantlescapes express preemption under Section
360k(a). Therefore, the court denies DefendaRtile 56 motion on preemption grounds as to

Plaintiff’'s breach of express warranty clairkee, e.g., Riley v. Cordis Corp., 625 F. Supp. 2d

769, 788 (D. Minn. 2009) (“[A] a breach-of-exgms-warranty claim based on voluntary
statements is not preempted by 8§ 360k(a) begamsorder to avoid state-law liability, the
manufacturer need do nothing more than refrmamfmaking voluntary warranties.”).

d. ClaimsPremised on the Violation of Regulations

Plaintiff attempts to create a parallel awby alleging violation of two (2) federal
regulations. The first regulationahPlaintiff cites states thdia]n implantable pacemaker pulse
generator is a device thatsha power supply andeatronic circuits tat produce a periodic
electrical pulse to stimulate the hearl C.F.R. 8 870.3610. The second regulation provides
that “[s]ection 521(a) does notgampt State or local requirementsggeneral applicability where
the purpose of the requirement relates eitheptteer products in addition to devices (e.g.,
requirements such as general electrical coaled,the Uniform Commerai Code (warranty of
fitness)), or to unfair trade practices in whitke requirements are not limited to devices.” 21
C.F.R. §808.1(d)(1).

After reviewing the content dhese regulations, the courtnst persuaded that Plaintiff
has stated a parallel claim that avoids preemptidtirst, the court notethat neither regulation
refers specifically to the medical device s$ue. Second, the regudais do not provide any
kind of tangible or concrete standard, and “to alfowolation of . . . a flexible standard to result

in liability would, in itself, beimposing a standard ‘differeritom, or in addition to’ those

® The court notes that the Plaintiffs in Riegedabrgued that their claims were not preempted
because of § 808.1(d)(1). The Supreme Coepected this argument concluding that the
regulation failed to alter thedDrt’s interpretation of § 360k(a)Riegel, 552 U.S. at 329-30.
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imposed by the MDA.” _Horn v. Boston Soiefic Neuromodulation Corp., No. CV409-074,

2011 WL 3893812, at *9 (S.D. Ga. Aug. 26, 201tjting 21 U.S.C. § 360k(a)(1)).
Accordingly, where a plaintiff relies on nothimgore than unsupportedolations of general
regulations in support of a paelllcause of action, preemptionrbahe claim. _llarraza v.

Medtronic, Inc., 677 F. Supp. 2d 582, 588 (E.D.N.Y. 2009).

[11.  CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the cOBRANTS IN PART AND DENIES IN PART the
motion for summary judgment @fefendant Boston Scientific Corporation. (ECF No. 70.) The
following claims are preempted and dismissed witijudice: negligence,rgtt liability, breach
of implied warranties, and any claimseprised on a violation of 21 C.F.R 8§ 870.3610,
808.1(d)(1). The court furthddENIES the motion for summary judgment of Plaintiff Jeffrey
Allen Hesik. (ECF No. 69.) The court directg tharties to proceed with Phase Il of Discovery
in relation to Plaintiff’'s remaing claim for breach of express warranty as contemplated by the
amended conference and schedubrder. (See ECF No. 50.)

ITISSO ORDERED.
8. ' :
United StateDistrict Judge

November 4, 2014
Columbia, South Carolina
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